THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUN 15 2015

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2014-000594

The State, Respondent,

v.

Devatee Tymar Clinton, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Chad N. Johnston
WILLOUGHBY & HOEFER, P.A.
Post Office Box 8416
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-8416
(803) 252-3300

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
**SOUTH CAROLINA COMMISSION
ON INDIGENT DEFENSE**
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 734-1330
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in excluding the statements given by the four-year-old son of the Victim to multiple law enforcement and EMS professionals, shortly after witnessing Victim's murder, which identified someone other than Clinton as the murderer?

- II. Did the trial court err in failing to direct a verdict in favor of Clinton where the evidence and testimony merely raised a suspicion, but failed to meet the elements of the charged crime?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was commenced against Appellant Devatee Tymar Clinton upon indictment 2012-GS-29-616 for the charge of murder. **(R. pp. 678-681)**. Clinton was tried before a jury, along with co-defendant Al Martinez Green, in Lancaster, South Carolina during the week of March 10-14, 2012. **(R. p. 4)**. Following deliberations, Clinton was found guilty of murder and thereafter sentenced by the trial court to life in prison, without parole. **(R. pp. 646; 668; 682)**. Clinton timely served his notice of appeal on March 18, 2014. **(R. pp. 700-703)**.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Late in the evening on January 19, 2012, Jenika Jones (Victim) was killed by a single gunshot wound. **(R. p. 84)**. At the time of her death, Victim was in her home, a mobile home in a mobile home community located off of Highway 200 near Great Falls, South Carolina. **(R. p. 245)**. Sadly, Victim's three children, all under the age of four years old, were also in the home at the time she was killed. **(R. pp. 37-48)**. Her oldest, a four year old boy, went next door to notify neighbors of the incident, who called 9-1-1. **(R. pp. 19; 23)**.

Upon arrival, Lancaster County Sherriff's Officers found Victim, already deceased, laying on the couch in the mobile home's main, family room. **(R. p. 43)**. The youngest two children, a girl, aged two, and a second boy, aged one, were found in the home; the oldest child remained with neighbors. **(R. pp. 37-48)**. All three children had blood on their clothing, presumably from Victim.¹ **(R. pp. 23-24; 59-60)**.

Police arrived on the scene within minutes of the call to 9-1-1. **(R. pp. 19; 39)**. Although the mobile homes in this particular community were very near to each other, the State produced no neighbors who heard the gunshot that killed Victim. **(R. pp. 52-55; 578-79)**. Nor did the State produce any witness that saw someone entering or leaving Victim's mobile home. **(R. pp. 578-59)**. Multiple officers and crime scene investigators, including a resident officer of the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) responded to the scene. Evidence was gathered, the scene was dusted for fingerprints, and deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) samples were collected.

¹ The record does not indicate that a test was ever performed to confirm the source of the blood; however, the children were uninjured. **(R. p. 78)**.

Initially, Victim's children were secured by first responders in an ambulance at the scene. (R. pp. 62-63). There, the oldest child spontaneously stated (without provocation or questioning) to at least two police officers, as well as other EMS individuals on hand, that "Shi's Daddy shot my Momma."² (R. pp. 14-15). Shortly thereafter, the oldest child's exclamation changed slightly, becoming "Shortycake shot my Momma."³ (R. p. 17). This statement was repeated several times in the minutes following the first responders' arrival, with all of these statements estimated to have occurred within thirty (30) minutes. (R. pp. 14-31; 256-59). Upon the State's motion *in limine*, the trial court initially ruled that the oldest child's hearsay statements were admissible, so long as proper foundation for their admittance was established. (R. pp. 32-36). Thereafter, however, the trial court sustained the State's objection to the oldest child's statements and they were never heard by the jury. (R. pp. 256-59).

The Lancaster Sherriff's Office developed leads based on the evidence collected at the scene. Ultimately, the investigation centered upon three individuals, Clinton, co-defendant Green, and a third individual, Wayne Blakeney, all three of whom were charged with Victim's murder. (R. pp. 13; 29). The linchpin of the State's case was the

² This matter initially comes to light as a result of the pre-trial motion *in limine* of the State seeking to exclude testimony of the oldest child's exclamations from the jury. (R. pp. 14-36).

³ It was later submitted that the oldest child may have also stated that "Jamia's Daddy hurt my Momma." (R. p. 19). During the pre-trial motion, it was confirmed by both the Solicitor and Defense Counsel that "Shi" is a nickname for a boy whose first name is "Jamia." (R. pp. 17-19). Additionally, it was confirmed that "Shi's Daddy" also goes by the nickname "Shortycake." *Id.* Moreover, it was determined that Shi's Daddy/Shortycake's actual name is Rashad Johnson. *Id.* Thus, Shi = Jamia, while Shi's Daddy = Shortycake = Rashad Johnson.

testimony of Blakeney, who provided a statement to police and ultimately testified against Clinton and Green at trial.⁴ (R. pp. 402-455).

Blakeney testified that on the night of Victim's murder, he, Clinton, Green, and a fourth individual, Delrico McDow borrowed a white Cadillac with a ragtop roof from a person named Pomp Blackmon. (R. pp. 412-15). Those four took the Cadillac to the Hole in the Wall Club (Club), a local bar/nightclub. (R. p. 416). Blakeney testified that he drove the Cadillac, as he had a driver's license, but Clinton, who knew Blackmon and asked to borrow the Cadillac in the first instance, did not. (R. p. 409). While at the Club, according to Blakeney, Clinton said that he needed to leave and get some money. (R. p. 417). All four left the Club in the Cadillac, Blakeney again driving, and with Clinton providing directions as to their destination. (R. pp. 417-19). On the way, Blakeney testified that he saw Clinton, who was riding in the front passenger's seat, with a gun in or around his lap. (R. p. 419). Blakeney further testified that while *en route*, no one discussed a plan or purpose for the trip. (R. pp. 417; 422).

⁴ Blakeney was also charged with Victim's murder, initially. (R. p. 403). However, the State consented to Blakeney being bonded out of jail and he provided incriminating testimony against Appellant and Green during the trial. (R. pp. 402-455). Although Blakeney testified that he had received neither a deal nor promise of one in exchange for his testimony, the Court may take judicial notice of the fact that, following his testimony in this trial, Blakeney's murder charge was reduced to Accessory After the Fact under the Youthful Offender Act. See <http://publicindex.sccourts.org/lancaster/publicindex/> (Under search "Blakeney Jr, Wayne Anthony"); see also *Wise v. Wise*, 394 S.C. 591, 601, 716 S.E.2d 117, 122 (Ct. App. 2011) ("[A]n appellate court can take judicial notice of something that was not before the trial court if it is indisputable."); *Masters v. Rodgers Development Group*, 283 S.C. 251, 321 S.E.2d 194 (Ct. App. 1984); *Freeman v. McBee*, 280 S.C. 490, 313 S.E.2d 325 (Ct. App. 1984) ("A court can take judicial notice of its own records, files[,] and proceedings for all proper purposes including facts established in its records."). Blakeney pled guilty to this reduced charge, and was sentenced to six years, suspended for time served and eighteen (18) months' probation.

Eventually, the group arrived at their destination at the mobile home community located on Roseanna Lane, off of Highway 200.⁵ (R. pp. 418-20). Blakeney parked the car, but could not remember where. (R. pp. 418-20; 450-51). Blakeney testified that he stayed in the car, while Clinton, Green, and McDow exited the car and “disappeared” amongst the mobile homes. (R. p. 420). Blakeney said that he did not know, and could not see, where the three went, if anywhere, or whether one or all three went to the same place. (R. pp. 420-21). They were gone for approximately ten (10) minutes. (R. p. 421). During that time, Blakeney testified he saw no one, including his three passengers, heard nothing, and was unaware of their destination or purpose. (R. pp. 421; 440-41; 450-53).

Ten minutes after they exited the vehicle, the three returned. (R. pp. 421; 452). The four left the mobile home community and returned to the Club. (R. p. 422). Several hours later, the four left the Club, along with several unidentified persons, and Blakeney drove to the Newtown area of town (incidentally, where they borrowed the Cadillac in the first place), where he dropped off Green, McDow, and the unidentified persons; Blakeney and Clinton remained in the car. (R. pp. 424-25). Thereafter, Blakeney drove Clinton back to his Grandmother’s mobile home on Roseanna Lane. (R. pp. 425-26). During this car ride, Blakeney testified that Clinton told him that “I killed that bitch,” although he did not elaborate and Blakeney had no idea to whom he was referring. (R. pp. 426-27). Blakeney further testified that, although he felt “shocked a little bit,” he did not believe Clinton had killed anyone. (R. pp. 427-28; 444-45). Once they reached the

⁵ It was later revealed that Appellant lived with his Grandmother in this same mobile home community on Roseanna Lane, in the mobile home next door to Victim. (R. pp. 418; 455; 561).

mobile home community, Blakeney testified that Clinton left the gun he had previously seen in the glove box of the Cadillac and asked Blakeney “to hold it for him.” (R. p. 428). Blakeney obliged, for a while, but later sold the gun to a relative (despite originally lying and telling a friend that he had buried the gun). (R. pp. 429-30; 447; 453-54). After dropping Clinton off at his Grandmother’s home, Blakeney ditched the Cadillac at a nearby Piggly Wiggly. (R. pp. 429-30; 443-44).

Even after learning of Victim’s murder, and its date and location, Blakeney did not go to the police. (R. pp. 433-34). Instead, he later told a friend about his assumed role in Victim’s death, and the friend later reported same to the police. *Id.* Blakeney was arrested and charged with Victim’s murder. (R. p. 430). He gave multiple inconsistent statements to police, later admitting that he lied, which implicated Clinton, Green, and McDow. (R. pp. 432-34; 437-39).

The Lancaster Sherriff’s Office, meanwhile, followed up on other leads. Led to the Cadillac after Blackmon reported it missing,⁶ (R. p. 152), investigators took swabs and samples from the Cadillac which were submitted to SLED for DNA testing. (R. pp. 203-204; 233-40). Test results revealed no link to either Victim or Clinton. (R. pp. 345-56). Police also recovered a blue work jumpsuit from the Cadillac, which was also submitted to SLED for DNA testing. (R. pp. 302-04). Witnesses claimed to have seen Clinton in a blue jumpsuit on the night of the murder, and Clinton admitted that he owned a similar jumpsuit. (R. p. 470). However, nothing linked the recovered jumpsuit to Victim or her mobile home.

⁶ Two other witnesses testified that they saw the Cadillac leaving the mobile home community around the time of the murder, lights off and moving at a high rate of speed, but could not identify any of the occupants of the car. (R. pp. 65-70; 118-20).

Investigators recovered little physical evidence at the mobile home of Victim. Swabs were taken of entry door handles, but nothing matched Clinton. (R. pp. 179; 188-189; 192-94). Additionally, although the master bedroom of the mobile home appeared to have been ransacked, nothing was ever identified by police as having been stolen, and no fingerprints or “touch” DNA were recovered from the home. (R. pp. 171-74). An autopsy of Victim recovered the bullet that caused her death, and a bullet casing was recovered from the mobile home. (R. pp. 219-21; 391-92). However, a SLED ballistic expert testing of both the bullet and the casing was inconclusive. Neither item revealed a link to Clinton, and the expert could not even definitively state, with any degree of scientific certainty, that the recovered bullet came out of the recovered casing. (R. p. 392). Moreover, despite Blakeney’s apparent cooperation, the murder weapon was never recovered. (R. pp. 455-56).

Finally, the State relied upon testimony of several individuals who had seen Clinton and Green at the apartment of Green’s girlfriend the day before Victim was murdered. According to the testimony of Dominique Davis and Jamal Twitty, Clinton and Green were discussing doing a “lick.”⁷ However, of the two individuals who testified regarding these conversations, both testified that the conversations were devoid of details, and neither Clinton nor Green discussed when or where the lick was supposed to occur, or who the apparent target might be. The only descriptive fact resulting from this testimony turned out to have no relevance to the facts of this case. Davis testified that she heard Green ask Clinton “[d]oes she drive a black car?” (R. p. 95). Davis did not know who the “she” was, or even if “she” was the target of the supposed “lick.” (R.

⁷ According to testimony, a “lick” is a robbery. (R. p. 93). See also Urban Dictionary <http://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=lick&defid=1795706>.

pp. 95-96). Irrespective, no testimony or evidence was introduced that Victim even owned a car, much less a black car.

Jamal Twitty's testimony was similarly vague and non-descriptive. Twitty testified that Clinton asked him if he wanted to "go on a lick." (R. p. 106). Twitty was interested, but, according to Twitty, the group stayed put where they were. (R. p. 107). Akin to Davis' testimony, no specific details of this "lick" were discussed in Twitty's presence. (R. pp. 107-110). Moreover, Twitty's strongest recollection of the conversation was favorable to Clinton, when he testified that he was certain Clinton did not have a gun on him the night of their conversation. (R. pp. 109-110). That is all the evidence the State introduced to support the murder charge against Clinton.

In sum, the testimony and evidence put forward by the State was disjointed, amounting to no direct evidence of Clinton's involvement in Victim's murder, but only circumstantial evidence that failed to surpass the level of mere suspicion. Further, the State failed to establish a consistent timeline of the events of the evening of Victim's death or the individuals alleged to have been involved. Finally, Police failed to follow up on the content of the oldest child's statements that incriminated another person, and the State was successful in suppressing the statement before the jury.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion in excluding the statements of Victim's four-year-old son, who clearly and repeatedly implicated someone other than Clinton as the person that killed his mother. Victim's son had first-hand knowledge of Victim's attacker, as he was present in the home at the time of his mother's death. Further, in describing the perpetrator, the oldest son described the person by name in two separate

ways, demonstrating consistency and understanding of his observations. Because the foundation for these statements was sufficiently laid, they are plainly relevant to Clinton's defense, and they comport with the temporal standard set forth in current case law evaluating the excited utterance exception to the rule against hearsay, the trial court erred as a matter of law in determining that the oldest son's statements were not excited utterances under Rule 803(2), SCRE. In the alternative, and for the same reasons, these statements satisfy the present sense impression exception to the rule against hearsay under Rule 803(1), SCRE.⁸ Accordingly, the trial court abused its discretion in excluding the statements of Victim's oldest son, which was prejudicial to Clinton's defense.

Moreover, the State failed to present any direct evidence of Clinton's involvement in the murder of Victim. Additionally, the State failed to present any substantial circumstantial evidence of Clinton's involvement that did more than raise a suspicion of Clinton's guilt. Therefore, trial court's failure to grant Clinton's motion for directed verdict at the close of the State's case-in-chief constitutes reversible error.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Evidentiary rulings are within the sound discretion of the trial court, and such rulings will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error that prejudices the defendant. State v. Garner, 389 S.C. 61, 65, 697 S.E.2d 615, 617 (Ct. App. 2010) (citing State v. Rice, 375

⁸ In short, these statements fully qualify under the traditional, common law *res gestae* exception to hearsay. State v. Burroughs, 328 S.C. 489, 498–99, 492 S.E.2d 408, 412–414 (Ct. App. 1997) (explaining that the former *res gestae* exception comprised what the South Carolina Rules of Evidence now recognize as two separate exceptions to the rule against hearsay: present sense impression (Rule 803(1)), and excited utterance (Rule 803(2))).

S.C. 302, 314, 652 S.E.2d 409, 415 (Ct. App. 2007)). On review, appellate courts are limited to determining whether the trial judge abused his discretion. State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 503 S.E.2d 747 (1998). The trial court abuses its discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. Garner, 389 S.C. at 65, 697 S.E.2d at 617 (citing Rice, 375 S.C. at 315, 652 S.E.2d at 415).

In cases where the State has failed to present evidence of the offense charged, a criminal defendant is entitled to a directed verdict. State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429, 753 S.E.2d 402, 408-09 (2013) (citing State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004)). “During trial, ‘[w]hen ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.’” Id. (citation omitted); see also Rule 19(a), SCRCrP. “The trial court should ‘grant the directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty, as suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.’” Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 429, 753 S.E.2d at 409 (internal quotation omitted). “On the other hand, ‘a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis.’” Id. (citing Cherry, 361 S.C. at 594, 606 S.E.2d at 478).

On appeal, “[w]hen reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, this Court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the state.” Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 429, 753 S.E.2d at 409 (citing Cherry, supra; State v. Burdette, 335 S.C. 34, 46, 515 S.E.2d 525, 531 (1999); State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000) (finding that when ruling on cases in which the state has relied

exclusively on circumstantial evidence, appellate courts are likewise only concerned with the existence of the evidence and not its weight)). “If the state has presented ‘any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused,’ this Court must affirm the trial court’s decision to submit the case to the jury.” Id. (citations omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in excluding the statements of the Victim’s four-year-old son to first responders that implicated someone other than Clinton and his co-defendant in the charged crime.

a. Introduction and background.

The trial court abused its discretion in excluding the oldest son’s multiple statements to police and first responders that identified another person (someone not investigated, charged, or tried for Victim’s death) as being the person that killed Victim. As this identification meets the requirements of both the excited utterance and/or present sense impression exceptions to the rule against hearsay, the trial court’s ruling that the statements could not be introduced through the officers or first responders who witnessed the declarations was an error of law that warrants reversal.⁹

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