STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lancaster County
Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-000594

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

Respondent, JUN 16 2015
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

vs.

DEVATEE TYMAR CLINTON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General

P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit
P.O. Box 607
Lancaster, SC 29721
(803) 416-9367

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT.

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

R. p. 258, line 25 – p. 259, line 25.

On cross-examination by Green, Inv. Taylor testified that he had been in the ambulance with the children “[p]robably about ten minutes.” **R. pp. 274-275.** Also, based upon the blood of the children’s clothing, it appeared that they would have been physically close to the victim; and

the four year old was able to see the blood on his siblings' clothing while he was in the ambulance. However, he appeared to be "happy-go-lucky" during the time that Inv. Taylor was with him. **R. pp. 275-278.**

- C. Assuming that Clinton's argument is preserved for appellate review, even though he did not make an adequate proffer at trial to support introduction of the testimony, after obtaining a favorable *in limine* ruling on its admissibility, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by sustaining the State's objection because there was no evidence that the victim's son witnessed the shooting of his mother and Clinton did not satisfy the other foundational requirements for introducing the out-of-court statement under Rule 803(2), SCRE.**

Initially, Respondent submits that the current issue is not preserved for appellate review. As the discussion in section A reflects, Clinton received a favorable *in limine* ruling and the trial judge repeatedly stated that testimony concerning the out-of-court declaration would be admissible if the defense established an adequate foundation for the introduction of the testimony by offering evidence that (1) the child had witnessed the shooting, see Rule 602, SCRE ("A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter"), and (2) the declaration met the other requirements for introduction into evidence as an excited utterance under Rule 803(2), SCRE. Because he did not make an adequate proffer in accordance with the favorable *in limine* ruling, there is nothing for this Court to decide on appeal. *See State v. Trotter*, 322 S.C. 537, 543, 473 S.E.2d 452, 455 (1996) ("Inasmuch as petitioner was granted the relief he sought, but failed to take advantage of it, there was actually no issue to be decided on appeal"); *State v. Sinclair*, 275 S.C. 608, 610, 274 S.E.2d 411, 412 (1981) (where defendant received the relief requested from the trial court, there is no issue for the appellate court to decide); *State v. Brown*, 274 S.C. 48, 260 S.E.2d 719 (1979) (same). *See also State v. Simmons*, 360 S.C. 33, 46, 599 S.E.2d 448, 454 (2004) (the failure to make a proffer of excluded evidence will preclude review on appeal); *TNS*

Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Rev., 331 S.C. 611, 628, 503 S.E.2d 471, 480 (1998) (a failure to make a proffer of what an excluded witness's testimony would have been precludes appellate review); *Greenville Mem'l Auditorium v. Martin*, 301 S.C. 242, 244, 391 S.E.2d 546, 547 (1990) (“An alleged erroneous exclusion of evidence is not a basis for establishing prejudice on appeal in absence of an adequate proffer of evidence in the court below”) (citations omitted).

Yet, even assuming *arguendo* that this issue is preserved for appellate review, Clinton is not entitled to relief. “The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of evidence are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Shuler*, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003). “Hearsay is defined as ‘a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.’ Rule 801(c), SCRE. Hearsay is inadmissible except as provided by the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, by other court rule, or by statute. Rule 802, SCRE.” *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 478, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011) “In order for [an appellate court] to reverse a case based on ... exclusion of evidence, error and prejudice must be shown.” *State v. Bell*, 302 S.C. 18, 27, 393 S.E.2d 364, 369 (1990).

Clinton does not dispute that the oldest child’s declarations were hearsay but argues that these declarations were admissible “under the excited utterance exception to the rule against hearsay. **IBOA**, p. 17 (citing Rule 803(2), SCRE). Respondent submits that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by sustaining the State’s objection. First, it is axiomatic that in order for the declaration that “Shi’s daddy shot my momma” to have been admissible, the four year old declarant must have, in fact, witnessed the shooting. See Rule 602, SCRE (“A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter. Evidence to prove personal knowledge may, but need not,

consist of the witness' own testimony”); *State v. Bröckmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 339 n. 11, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 n.11 (2013).

Clinton assumes that the four year old child saw the shooting of his mother and that this was the basis for his declaration. However, the trial judge correctly recognized that he had not made any such proffer and that he had only established that the child was in the house (with his siblings) when the victim was shot: “Presence in the home doesn't mean observation of the fatal act.” **R. p. 24, lines 14-15.**

In the absence of a proffer tending to show that the child witnessed the shooting - as opposed to being awakened by the noise of the gunshot that night - the testimony concerning his declaration was inadmissible. Indeed, even assuming that the child was competent to testify and was called as a witness, he could not have testified that “Shi's daddy shot my momma,” unless he had witnessed the shooting. *Id.*

Based upon the current record, it is not possible to determine why the child made the statement at issue. In other words, it cannot be determined whether (1) this was something that he thought that he saw, (2) he disliked Shi's father for some unstated reason, (3) he dreamed this, or (4) the suggestion that Rashad Johnson was responsible for the shooting was suggested to him by an adult whom he encountered when he went to his neighbor's residence to report the shooting. Moreover, the failure to affirmatively establish that the declarant witnessed the shooting distinguishes this case from *Ladner*, *Sims*, and *In Interest of Smith*, *supra*. See, e.g., *Sims*, 348 S.C. at 21, 558 S.E.2d at 521 (finding that non-testifying child's statement to officer “relates to the startling event of the son seeing his mother after she was attacked and possibly while she was being attacked”).

Nor did the declaration fall within the ambit of Rule 803(2), SCRE. An excited utterance

may be admitted whether or not the declarant is available as a witness. *See* Rule 803, SCRE (entitled “Hearsay Exceptions; Availability of Declarant Immaterial”). Also, when a statement is admissible under a Rule 803 exception, it may be used substantively, *i.e.*, to prove the truth of the matter asserted. *See State v. Dennis*, 337 S.C. 275, 283–84, 523 S.E.2d 173, 177 (1999).

The Supreme Court explained in *Ladner* that:

there are three elements that must be met to find a statement to be an excited utterance: (1) the statement must relate to a startling event or condition; (2) the statement must have been made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement; and (3) the stress of excitement must be caused by the startling event or condition. *State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 21, 558 S.E.2d 518, 521 (2002). The excited utterance exception is based on the rationale that “the startling event suspends the declarant's process of reflective thought, reducing the likelihood of fabrication.” *State v. Dennis*, 337 S.C. at 284, 523 S.E.2d at 177. A court must consider the totality of the circumstances when determining whether a statement falls within the excited utterance exception, and that determination is left to the sound discretion of the trial court. *Sims, supra*.

Ladner, 373 S.C. at 116, 644 S.E.2d at 691.

“Other factors useful in determining whether a statement qualifies as an excited utterance include the declarant's demeanor, the declarant's age, and the severity of the startling event.” *Sims*, 348 S.C. at 22, 558 S.E.2d at 521. Whether a statement is admissible as an excited utterance depends on the circumstances of each case and the determination is generally left to the sound discretion of the trial court. *See State v. Harrison*, 298 S.C. 333, 380 S.E.2d 818 (1989).

In the present case, Clinton cannot meet his burden on these criteria. As to the first requirement, Respondent does not dispute that the child's statements “relate to a startling event or condition.” Rather, Respondent asserts that there was a failure to establish that the child witnessed startling event or condition. More importantly, Clinton did not establish that the statement must have been made while the four year old child was under the stress of excitement.

Clinton maintains that this requirement was met because the statements were made at the

scene and less than two hours after the event. He further asserts that “too much analysis of the child's demeanor here is fraught with uncertainty.” **IBOA, p. 23.**

However, as the party offering the declaration, it was his burden to establish that it was admissible under Rule 803(2). The only evidence in the record is that, at the time the child made these declarations, “he didn't really seem too upset to a great extent” (**R. p. 259, lines 11-13**) and he was “happy-go-lucky.” **R. p. 277, lines 19-22; p. 278, lines 20-24.** In contrast, the victim’s five year old son in *Sims* was “found upset and crying outside the apartment of his mother.” *Sims*, 348 S.C. at 18, 558 S.E.2d at 520. The three year old victim in *In Interest of Smith*, described the defendant's actions to her mother immediately after the sexual assault, while she was still crying, disheveled and showing signs of pain. *See* 277 S.C. at 188, 284 S.E.2d at 587. In *Ladner*, the hearsay statement “was made by a two-and-a-half year old girl to her caretakers immediately after they discovered blood coming from her vaginal area.” *Ladner*, 373 S.C. at 113, 644 S.E.2d at 689.

While the statements in each of those cases appear to have been made while the declarants were under the stress of excitement, and the stress of excitement was caused by the startling event or condition, the same cannot be said here. There was simply no evidence that the four year old declarant was crying, despondent or even upset by the time he made the declarations at issue. Thus, the rationale underpinning the excited utterance exception was absent. *Contra Dennis*, 337 S.C. at 284, 523 S.E.2d at 177.

Clinton did not argue a Rule 403, SCRE, analysis in the trial court. Thus, his argument on pages 24-25 of his brief is not properly before this Court on appeal. *See State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5-6, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (a party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal). *See State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (“In order for

an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal”).

Moreover, the proffered testimony does not survive a Rule 403, SCRE analysis, even assuming its admissibility under Rule 803(2). Rule 403 provides that “evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” “Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis, such as an emotional one.” *State v. Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct.App. 2003). Here, the child’s statement had very little probative value. While it was evidence that Rashad Johnson -someone other than Clinton and Green - was responsible for murdering Jenika Jones, it was made by a four year old child who may not have been competent to testify and, more importantly, who may not have even witnessed the shooting.

Also, the proffer was that the child went to his next door neighbor’s residence to get help. Because evidence presented at trial was that the victim lived in a mobile home adjacent to the one Clinton shared with his grandmother (**R. pp. 418; 429; 455**), it is possible that the neighbor from whom the child sought assistance or another person whom the child encountered suggested that Rashad Johnson shot the victim. Further, there was absolutely no other evidence presented tying Johnson to the shooting. *Contra Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 330-31, 126 S.Ct. 1727 (2006).

On the other hand, the prejudicial effect of introducing the statement would have been tremendous. It would have diverted the jury’s attention from the issues that were properly before it and caused jurors to speculate about whether the victim’s son actually witnessed the shooting when there was no evidence that he had witnessed it. Likewise, introduction of the declaration would divert jurors to the question of third party guilt. In turn, the State would have been

required to present Deuce to testify as to what he actually witnessed and, worse, the State would have had to present evidence negating the question of third party guilt even though the statement by the child was the only evidence connecting Johnson to the murder of Jenika Jones was this unsubstantiated statement and the only evidence uncovered by the State's investigation was that the victim was murdered by Clinton, while Green and McDow, his friends and co-defendants acted as accomplices. *Contra Holmes, supra; see also State v. Gregory*, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941).⁴

Nor did Clinton argue in the trial court that the child's declarations were admissible under the present sense impression exception to the hearsay rule. *See* Rule 803(1), SCRE. As a result, his argument based upon that Rule is not properly before this Court. *See Bailey*, 298 S.C. at 5-6, 377 S.E.2d at 584; *Dunbar*, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 693-94. *See also State v. Williams*, 303 S.C. 410, 401 S.E.2d 168 (1991) (issues not raised to and ruled on by the trial judge are not preserved for appeal); *State v. Newton*, 274 S.C. 287, 262 S.E.2d 906 (1980) (questions neither presented to nor passed upon by the trial judge are waived and should not be considered by the appellate court for the first time on appeal).

Finally, Respondent submits that any error in excluding the proposed line of inquiry was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. "Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did

⁴In *Gregory*, the Court explained that:

[T]he evidence offered by accused as to the commission of the crime by another person must be limited to such facts as are inconsistent with his own guilt, and to such facts as raise a reasonable inference or presumption as to his own innocence; evidence which can have (no) other effect than to cast a bare suspicion upon another, or to raise a conjectural inference as to the commission of the crime by another, is not admissible.... But before such testimony can be received, there must be such proof of connection with it, such a train of facts or circumstances, as tends clearly to point out such other person as the guilty party. Remote acts, disconnected and outside the crime itself, cannot be separately proved for such a purpose.

198 S.C. at 104-05, 16 S.E.2d at 534-35 (internal citations omitted).

not contribute to the verdict obtained.” *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006) (citing *Arnold v. State*, 309 S.C. 157, 172, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992)). “When guilt is conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, [the appellate court] will not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” *State v. Kelley*, 319 S.C. 173, 179, 460 S.E.2d 368, 371 (1995); *State v. Bryant*, 369 S.C. 511, 518, 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006); *State v. Livingston*, 282 S.C. 1, 6, 317 S.E.2d 129, 132 (1984).

Here, the evidence was harmless because it could not have affected the result of the trial. The prosecution’s evidence is discussed at length in **Argument, II**. Although the case was largely based upon circumstantial evidence, Respondent submits that the State presented overwhelming evidence of Clinton’s guilt, including his admission to his cousin, Wayne Blakeney, that “I shot that bitch.” **R. p. 427, lines 16-17**. Because any error was harmless, this issue lacks merit.

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